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Directors’ Report 
 

 
 
Accounts 
 
The directors present their report of Starr Europe Insurance Limited (‘SEIL’ or ‘the Company’) together with the financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. These financial statements are included in the Annual 
Report, which is published in hard-copy printed form and may be made available at the Company’s offices.  
 
 
Principal activities 
 
Starr Europe Insurance Limited was incorporated on 15 March 2018 and is authorised in terms of the Insurance Business 
Act (Chapter 403 of the Laws of Malta) to carry on insurance and reinsurance business in the following classes of general 
business: Class 1 – Accident; Class 2 – Sickness; Class 4 – Railway Rolling Stock; Class 5 – Aircraft; Class 6 – Ships; Class 7 
– Goods in transit; Class 8 – Fire and Natural Forces; Class 9 – Other Damage to Property; Class 11 – Aircraft Liability; 
Class 12 – Liability for Ships; Class 13 – General Liability; Class 14 – Credit; Class 15 – Suretyship; Class 16 – Miscellaneous 
Financial Loss; Class 17 – Legal Expenses and Class 18 – Assistance. The company is regulated by the Malta Financial 
Services Authority (“MFSA”). Starr Europe Insurance Limited enjoys freedom to provide services in all countries within 
the European Economic Area (“EEA”) and freedom of establishment in Germany, Spain, Hungary, Norway1, Slovakia, 
The Czech Republic and The Netherlands. Additionally, the Company enjoyed freedom of establishment in the United 
Kingdom until the end of the year and up until the Brexit date of 31 December 2020. SEIL’s material lines of business in 
2021 were Warranty, Accident and Health, Aviation, Technical risks (energy and construction), Casualty and Marine.  
 
The development of SEIL’s business has been based on two core strategies. Firstly, expanding Starr’s presence within 
local European markets, using its underwriting branch network in the Netherlands, Germany, Spain, Slovakia, Hungary, 
the Czech Republic and Norway to write new business operating on both a freedom of establishment and freedom of 
services basis, across Europe. In addition, SEIL has been used for the renewal of EEA based risks from the affiliated UK 
based company, Starr International (Europe) Limited (‘SIEL’) as the Starr Group minimised the impact from the UK’s 
withdrawal from the European Union, commonly known as “Brexit”. 
 
 
Performance review 
 
The Company evaluates its performance using key performance indicators (‘KPIs’). The Company’s KPI’s during the 
period were as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 €’000 €’000 
   
Gross Written Premium [Actual] 436,208 364,740 
Gross Written Premium [Plan] 480,901 201,589 
   
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 23,034 14,296 
   
Combined ratio* 
*The combined ratio is calculated as net claims incurred plus net 
operating expenses, divided by net earned premium. 

50.0% 60.4% 

 

 
 
 
 
1 The Norwegian branch of SEIL is gradually ceasing to writing insurance business during 2022 and its business is planned to be placed into run off. 
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The KPIs have been selected as SEIL is a relatively newly established active underwriting entity seeking to grow by writing 
additional profitable business. Gross written premium and the combined ratio achieved are considered the most 
relevant KPIs indicating the performance of the entity as SEIL looks to achieve profitable growth.  
 
Throughout the financial year the Company has underwritten gross written premiums of €436.2 million (2020: €364.7 
million). Operating at a low rate of retention the net premiums written for the year amounted to €60.8 million (2020: 
€50.3 million). Net claims incurred recognized throughout the year amounted to €31.8 million representing around 63% 
of the net earned premiums throughout the year (2020: €21.5 million). Additionally, the Company generated net 
technical income of €5.4 million (2020: €7.0 million) during the year and incurred additional non technical administrative 
expenses of €0.9 million (2020: €4.6 million). The investment result for the year amounted to a negative €2.3 million 
(2020: €1.8 million) which represented a significant drop in the average rate of return on the investment portfolio over 
the prior year. The investment result includes €4.7 million of unrealised losses from the revaluation of the investment 
portfolio at the end of the year. This decline in the average rate of return on the investment portfolio was mainly driven 
by prevalent market conditions as a result of the post covid-19 pandemic realities and inflationary pressures.  

 
The gross written premium has missed estimated targets for the year by 9% when compared to the plan. This was a result 
of a combination of lower levels of business on the warranty class and new business to the group that had previously 
been budgeted for the Company being then written in another intra group risk carrier.  

 
Claims incurred and expenses have increased in line with the increased premium volumes during the Company’s third 
year of insurance underwriting operations. The Company registered a combined ratio of 50.0% compared to a combined 
ratio of 60.4% during the comparative year. The combined ratio has matured during the recent years as a result of an 
increasing overall expense base, and which is correlated with increased production. Year on year, the combined ratio 
decreased as a result of marginally higher net production and net earned premium when compared to net claims incurred, 
net technical income and administrative expenses.  

 
The results for the year are stated on pages 11 and 12 of these financial statements and show a technical result from 
general insurance business of €24.4 million (2020: €17.1 million) and a resultant profit before tax of €23.0 million (2020: 
€14.3 million). 
 
Additionally, throughout the year, the parent company advanced around €35.5 million (2020: €34.1 million) in capital 
contribution to the Company.  
 
Business review 
 
The Board has prepared an enhanced business review. The intention is to give a fair review of the business of the Company 
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company. An analysis of the performance of the 
Company is summarised using the following KPIs, appropriate to the operation of the Company: - 
 

1. Business plan – we have established a well-defined plan. As part of our standard monitoring of operating 
performance, the Company’s executives monitor key indicators such as production, gross and net premium 
levels and regulatory solvency levels. These indicators are compared to budget and variances discussed at 
relevant committee level.  

2. Success measures for business growth are based around market share and the ability to attract and retain 
quality business. We carry out detailed analysis of these factors and maintain technical pricing models to 
evaluate business. Key to our success is the strong links we have developed with key business producers 
(brokers) and clients. A close working relationship is part of the ethos of our Company and enables us to retain 
quality business which in part mitigates the impact of intensive market competition.  

3. Human resources – Staff levels are monitored against the developing needs of the business, with recruitment 
undertaken in line with new underwriting initiatives. A succession plan for Directors and key roles is in place 
and reviewed at least annually. 

4. Reputation – our parent Company has instilled in the group a strong ethical culture for doing business. All staff 
receive appropriate training and policies and procedures are in place to ensure these standards are met. 

5. Environmental matters – as an office-based business we do not have much scope to reduce our environmental 
impact however we have built in energy saving features where we can and recycle waste products where 
possible. 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: FB6579A8-6B9F-41CC-BCBF-A385B2EBF6C0



5 

STARR EUROPE INSURANCE LIMITED 

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

  

 

 

Principal risks & uncertainties 
 
A robust risk function has been established in the operations of the Starr Group of companies that addresses the following 
areas: 

 
 risk governance structure that facilitates robust management of risk throughout the organisation; 
 a maintained risk register that identifies specific agency and carrier risks; 
 clear risk strategy and plan for the organisation; 
 establishment of appetite for risk in all areas of the business; 
 written policies that include a definition and categorisation of the material risks; 
 identification and quantification of risks faced by the organisation;  
 ensures that appropriate and effective controls are in place to mitigate risk. 

 
The main risks have been identified as follows: 

 Regulatory risk 
 Group risk 
 Insurance risk 
 Market risk 
 Liquidity risk 
 Operational risk 
 Credit risk 

 
a) Regulatory risk 
 
The Company maintains an efficient capital structure consistent with the Company’s risk profile and the regulatory 
and market requirements of its business. 
 
The MFSA specifies the minimum amount and type of capital that must be held by the Company. The Minimum 
Capital Requirement (‘MCR’) must be maintained at all times throughout the financial period. In reporting the 
Company’s financial strength, capital and solvency are measured using the regulations prescribed by the MFSA. These 
regulatory capital tests are based upon required levels of capital and series of prudent assumptions in respect of 
the type of business written by the Company. 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders, to comply with the requirements of the MFSA and to 
maintain financial strength to support new business growth. In order to maintain the capital structure, the Company 
may adjust the amounts of dividends paid, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 
 
b) Group risk 
 
This is the risk that other Starr Group companies may adversely affect the Company’s operations.  
 
The Starr Group aims to minimise such risk by ensuring that there are clearly defined protocols between all inter-related 
entities and that all agreements between related parties are objective and subject to the same level of compliance as 
those with external parties. 
 
c) Insurance risk 
 
Insurance risk includes the risk that a policy will be written for too low a premium or provide inappropriate cover 
(underwriting risk), that the frequency or severity of insured events will be higher than expected (claims risk), or that 
estimates of claims subsequently prove to be insufficient (reserving risk). The SEIL Board manages insurance risk by 
agreeing its appetite for these risks annually through the business plan, which sets out targets for volumes, pricing, line 
sizes and retention by class of business. The SEIL Board then monitors performance against the business plan through 
the year. The Company monitors maximum probable losses from catastrophe exposed business.  
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The Company has a defined event risk tolerance, which determines the maximum gross and net loss that the Company 
limits its exposure to, from major catastrophe event scenarios.  
 
The risk tolerance policy recognises that there may be circumstances in which the net event limit could be exceeded. 
Such circumstances include non-renewal or delay in renewal of reinsurance protection, reinsurance security failure, or 
regulatory and legal requirements. A detailed analysis of catastrophe exposures is carried out every month and 
measured against the event risk tolerance. The following assumptions and procedures are used in the process: 
 

 The data used reflects the information supplied to the Company by insureds and ceding companies. This may 
prove to be inaccurate or could develop during the policy period; 

 The exposures are modelled using a mixture of physical models for Natural Catastrophe risks and underwriter 
input for Man-made Catastrophe risks to arrive at damage factors. These factors are applied to the assumed 
aggregate exposure to produce gross loss estimates. The damage factors may prove to be inadequate; 

 The reinsurance programme as purchased is applied – a provision for reinsurer counterparty failure is analysed 
but may prove to be inadequate; and 

 Reinstatement premiums both payable and receivable are included. 
 
Inherently there is uncertainty as to whether these assumptions and techniques deployed in calculating these event 
loss estimate figures are correct. Furthermore, there could also be a loss which exceeds these figures. The likelihood of 
such a catastrophe is considered to be remote but the most severe scenarios modelled are simulated events and these 
simulations could prove to be unreliable. 
 
d) Market risk 
 
The key aspect of market risk is that the Company incurs losses on its investment portfolio as a result of market interest 
rate fluctuations and other non financial factors, as well as on foreign exchange movements as a result of mismatches 
between the currencies in which assets and liabilities are denominated.  
 
The Company’s investment portfolio comprises investments denominated in Euros (€) and in US Dollar ($) and SEIL 
monitors the portfolio’s return and risk profile to ensure that such a combination is aligned to the Company’s risk 
appetite and tolerance strategies.  
 
The majority of assets and liabilities are denominated in Euros (€), however SEIL monitors exposure to any other material 
currencies to determine if further action is required. 
 
Due to the nature of the investment portfolio the Company is not significantly exposed to realised market valuation 
differences on bonds as these are not traded on a regular basis. The factor which impacts our investments most is 
interest rates. Interest rates have a direct impact on investment return and the valuation of bonds is directly linked to 
interest rates and their anticipated movements.  
 
e) Liquidity risk 
 
This is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due, owing to a shortfall in cash. To 
mitigate this risk, the cash positions are monitored on a daily basis and investments are held in highly liquid instruments. 
 
f) Operational risk 
 
This is the risk that errors caused by people, processes or systems lead to losses to the Company, both from internal 
and external events. SEIL seeks to manage this risk through the use of detailed procedure manuals, peer reviews, 
internal audits and appropriate training courses. The findings of Internal Audit in relation to operational risk are 
presented to the Audit Committee which reviews the key findings and monitors the implementation of associated 
actions. 
 
g) Credit risk 
 
The key aspect of credit risk is the risk of default by one or more of the Company’s reinsurers. The Company has a 
Reinsurance and Security Committee at Group level that reviews and agrees the security of the proposed reinsurers. 
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The Committee assesses the acceptability of reinsurers and sets maximum usage limits based on the reinsurer’s security 
rating. A listing of all acceptable security is maintained by the Reinsurance and Security Committee and is available on 
request. Usage of any reinsurer that does not appear on the list of approved reinsurers, or usage of an approved 
reinsurer in excess of its applicable limit, requires prior authorisation from the Reinsurance and Security Committee and 
the Company is required to approve the variation from the business plan. The Group Reinsurance and Security 
Committee, in the United Kingdom, reviews and agrees the form and structure of the reinsurance programme to be 
purchased by the Company and monitors progress on placement and exhaustion of cover. 
 
h) Significant judgements and estimates 
 
Note 3 to the Financial Statements provides details in connection with the inherent uncertainties that surround the 
preparation of the financial statements and which require significant estimates and judgements. 
 
 
Significant events during the year 
 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic and the measures adopted by governments in countries worldwide 
to mitigate the pandemic’s spread have not significantly impacted the Company. These measures required the Company 
close down its offices for specific forced lock down periods and allow staff to work from home for these periods. 
Management have assessed such impacts and have concluded that such have not materially impacted the Company’s 
operations and staff continued to operate effectively on a remote basis. Throughout the recent months governments 
have been relaxing restrictive measures and the expectation is that we expect a gradual return to normality as people 
return back to office.  
 
The volatility in financial markets brought about by the outbreak of COVID-19 and inflationary pressures has impacted 
the valuation of the investment portfolios of the Company. Having considered the positions within the financial markets 
up to the date of approval of these financial statements, we expect that our solvency ratio remains in excess of our risk 
tolerance threshold. As at that date, the Company reports a healthy level of net assets and management is of the opinion 
that the Company is able to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future.  
 
The impact of economic uncertainty during 2021 on individuals and businesses could have also lead to policyholder 
claims across a number of classes. Having considered the period up until the date of these financial statements, the 
Company’s assessment of claims incurred continues to be positive and there has not been a material increase in claims 
as a result of the pandemic.  
 
 
Other developments during the year 
 
The Board of Directors have reviewed the operations of the branch in Norway and do not believe that the current level 
of insurance business underwritten through this operation is sufficient to provide a return to the organization. The Board 
have decided and resolved on 23 March 2021 that the Company shall cease to operate from the Norwegian permanent 
establishment and that liabilities for risks previously underwritten by the Branch will be honoured and run off by the 
Company.  
 
 
Going Concern 
 
The Directors have, also in light of the aforesaid, considered the Company’s operational performance, the Statement of 
Financial Position as at period end, as well as the business plans for the coming year, and that they have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
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Developments subsequent to the reporting date 
 
Since 24 February 2022, there has been an escalation of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine resulting in a 
programme of economic sanctions being implemented by the EU, UK and US governments against Russia. SEIL has 
considered its exposures to the conflict and resulting sanctions from an insurance, investment and operational 
perspective.  
 
SEIL has underwritten both Russian and Ukrainian domiciled business and risks exposed to Russia and Ukraine. SEIL is 
co-ordinating activity across compliance and the underwriting and claims functions to identify policies that could be 
impacted by the sanctions and/or the impact of the conflict. To the date of approval of these Financial Statements, 
management does not believe that such are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
performance and position.  
 
Procedures have been put into place to ensure there are no breaches of sanctions and underwriting exposure 
minimised. The actions have been overseen by the SEIL Board and senior management, and the changing landscape 
continues to be monitored, with the impact assessed and acted on accordingly.  
 
At the time of writing, there is not expected to be significant direct impacts to the financial condition of the Company. 

 
Other than the matters discussed above, there have been no significant events after the reporting date that would 
otherwise require adjustment to or warrant further disclosure in the financial statements. 
 
 
Dividends 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2021, no dividends (2020: €nil) were declared or paid. 
 
 
Directors and Officers  
 
The directors of the Company who held office during the year are:  
 
Graham John Lytton Broughton 
Joseph Demanuele  
Paul Mercieca 
Andrew Charles Raven 
Johannes Adrianus Vink (resigned effectively on 21 July 2021) 
Stuart David Scott  
Nigel Childs  
Jonathan Berry (appointed effectively on 07 January 2022) 
 
Under the provisions of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, all directors hold office until they 
resign or are removed by an ordinary resolution of the members in the General Meeting. 
 
The company secretary of the Company who held office during the year is:  
 
Ganado Services Limited (C 10785, Malta) 
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Auditors 
 
The auditors, PKF Assurance (Malta) Limited, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for 
their re-appointment will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 
 
 
By order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________ ____________________ 
Joseph Demanuele Graham Broughton 
Director Director  
 
 
Dragonara Business Centre, 5th Floor, Dragonara Road, 
St. Julians, STJ 3141 
Malta 
 
7 APRIL 2022 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
 

 
 
The directors are required by the Insurance Business Act (Chapter 403 of the Laws of Malta) and the Companies Act 
(Chapter 386 of the Laws of Malta) to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Company as at the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss for that year. In preparing the financial 
statements, the Directors are responsible for: 
 

 ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union; 

 selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
 making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and 
 ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Company will continue in business as a going concern. 
 
The Directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and the fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and that comply with the Companies Act 1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of 
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 
By order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________ ____________________ 
Joseph Demanuele Graham Broughton 
Director Director  
 
 
Dragonara Business Centre, 5th Floor, Dragonara Road, 
St. Julians, STJ 3141 
Malta 
 
7 APRIL 2022 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2021

 
 
 
Technical account – general business  
 
 Notes 2021 2020 
  € € 
    
Gross written premiums 6 436,208,160 364,739,602 
Outward reinsurance premiums 6 (375,446,174) (314,442,642) 
Net premiums written  60,761,986 50,296,960 
    
Change in the provision for unearned premiums 13 (31,396,736) (63,991,347) 
Change in the provision for unearned premiums, 
reinsurers’ share 

 
13 

 
21,389,626 

 
45,304,452 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance  (10,007,110) 31,610,065 
    
Claims paid – gross amount 13 (109,925,881) (50,686,791) 
Claims paid – reinsurers’ share 13 97,056,390 47,446,722 
Net claims paid  (12,869,491) (3,240,069) 
    
Change in the provision for claims – gross amount 13 (107,120,547) (100,500,917) 
Change in the provision for claims – reinsurers’ share 13 88,223,685 82,284,428 
Net change in the provision for claims  (18,896,862) (18,216,489) 
    
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance  (31,766,353) (21,456,558) 
    
Net other technical income  7 20,064,858 20,644,649 
Other technical administrative expenses 8 (14,639,962) (13,679,656) 
Net other technical income  5,424,896 6,964,993 
    
Balance on the technical account for general business 
(Page 12) 

 
24,413,419 17,118,500 

    
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2021

 
 
 
Non-technical account  
 
 
 Notes 2021 2020 
  € € 
    
Balance on the technical account for general business  
(Page 11) 

 
24,413,419 17,118,500 

    
Non-technical account – general business    
    
Investment income  (2,187,291) 1,844,804 
Investment expenses and charges  (136,784) (72,835) 
Net investment return  (2,324,075) 1,771,969 
    
Administrative expenses 8 (2,643,536) (2,543,138) 
Gains/(losses) on foreign exchange  3,588,454 (2,051,585) 
Total administrative and other expenses  944,918 (4,594,723) 
    
    
Profit before tax  23,034,262 14,295,746 
    
Tax expense  9 (3,811,256) (3,416,532) 
    
Total comprehensive income for the financial year  19,223,006 10,879,214 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2021

 
 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 
  € € 
    
Assets    
    
Equipment 11 77,609 25,533 
Right of use assets  12 405,212 310,348 
Investments 10 229,386,774 128,559,374 
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 13 351,075,481 236,687,226 
Deferred acquisition costs  14 3,537,763 3,623,799 
Insurance receivables  15 130,170,164 107,553,818 
Reinsurance receivables 15 17,525,260 9,336,893 
Other receivables  16 1,861,035 1,046,191 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 14,888,788 31,449,803 
Total Assets  748,928,086 518,592,985 
    
Liabilities    
    
Technical provisions 13 453,873,296 309,013,826 
Insurance payables  19 3,189,367 1,796,772 
Reinsurance payables  19 138,304,813 107,111,137 
Lease liabilities 18 405,212 310,348 
Other payables 20 6,089,145 8,150,016 
Taxation payable  722,820 617,938 
Total Liabilities  602,584,653 427,000,037 
    
Net assets  146,343,433 91,592,948 
    
Equity    
    
Share capital 21 20,600,000 20,600,000 
Capital contribution 22 91,861,006 56,333,527 
Retained earnings  33,882,427 14,659,421 
Shareholder’s funds  146,343,433 91,592,948 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 7 APRIL 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________ ____________________ 
Joseph Demanuele Graham Broughton 
Director Director  
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2021

 
 
 
  

 
Share 

Capital 

 
 

Capital 
Contribution 

(Accumulated 
/Losses) 

 Retained 
Earnings 

 
 
 

Total 
 € € € € 
     
Balance as at 1 January 2020 20,600,000 22,225,000 3,780,207 46,605,207 
     
Result for the Year     
Profit for the year - - 10,879,214 10,879,214 
Total comprehensive income - - 10,879,214 10,879,214 
     
Transactions with owners     
Dividends (Note 23) - - - - 
Capital contributions (Note 22) - 34,108,527 - 34,108,527 
Total transactions with owners - 34,108,527 - 34,108,527 
     
     
Balance as at 31 December 2019 20,600,000 56,333,527 14,659,421 91,592,948 
     
Balance as at 1 January 2021 20,600,000 56,333,527 14,659,421 91,592,248 
     
Result for the Year     
Profit for the year - - 19,223,006 19,223,006 
Total comprehensive income - - 19,223,006 19,223,006 
     
Transactions with owners     
Dividends (Note 23) - - - - 
Capital contributions (Note 22) - 35,527,479 - 35,527,479 
Total transactions with owners - 35,527,479 - 35,527,479 
     
     
Balance as at 31 December 2020 20,600,000 91,861,006 33,882,427 146,343,433 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cashflows 
for the year ended 31 December 2021

 
 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 
  € € 
    
Cashflows from operating activities    
Net cash inwards from premiums written  304,798,548 206,830,170 
Net cash outwards from ceded reinsurance premiums  (179,825,806) (117,224,009) 
Part VII settlements/premium received  24 (19,884,595) 23,671,096 
Claims paid  (106,480,188) (48,446,085) 
Reinsurance recoveries  88,868,023 38,253,305 
Cash generated from operating insurance activities  87,475,982 103,084,477 
    
Income taxes paid  (3,618,281) (3,348,936) 
Insurance premium taxes paid  (16,023,758) (13,857,159) 
Administrative and other expenses paid   (18,024,644) (11,446,472) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  49,809,299 74,431,910 
    
Cashflows from investing activities    
Purchase of equipment  11 (74,063) (46,719) 
Purchase of investments 10 (141,568,843) (122,872,023) 
Sale of investments  10 38,359,701 36,299,077 
Income from investments held   2,119,698 581,730 
Net cash used in investing activities  (101,163,507) (86,037,935) 
    
Cashflows from financing activities    
Proceeds from capital contribution 22 35,527,479 34,108,527 
Finance lease payments  18 (160,504) (130,270) 
Net cash generated from financing activities  35,366,975 33,978,257 
    
    
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  (15,987,233) 22,372,232 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  31,449,803 10,784,726 
Effect of movements in exchange rates  (573,782) (1,707,155) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 17 14,888,788 31,449,803 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as 
adopted by the EU, with the requirements of the Insurance Business Act, Chapter 403 of the Laws of Malta and the 
Companies Act, Chapter 386 of the Laws of Malta.  
 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the measurement at fair value 
of Investments (see Note 2.8.4 – Fair value of financial assets). The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis which assumes that the Company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company’s functional currency (see Note 2.5 – Foreign 
currencies). This is the currency of Malta which is the country in which the Company is domiciled. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union requires the use of 
certain accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies (see Note 3 – Critical accounting estimates and judgements). The financial information 
presented within the statement of financial position is presented in order of liquidity.  
 
The Company was incorporated in Malta on 15 March 2018 and commenced writing insurance business during 2019.  
 
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 April 2022.  
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards endorsed by the European Union effective in 
current year 
 
In 2021, the Company has adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The adoption of these revisions to the 
requirements of IFRS’s as adopted by the European Union did not result in substantial changes to the Company’s 
accounting policies.  
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as adopted by the European Union that are not 
yet effective 
 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the date of 
authorisation for issue of these financial statements, which are mandatory for the Company’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Company has not yet adopted these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union, and the Company’s directors are of the opinion that, with the exception of the standards 
discussed below, there are no requirements that will have an impact on the Company’s financial statements in the period 
of initial application.  
 
IFRS 17 – ‘Insurance Contracts’ establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features. It 
introduces a model that measures groups of contracts based on the Company’s estimates of the present value of future 
cash flows that are expected to arise as the Company fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial 
risk and a Contractual Service Margin. In addition, a simplified measurement approach is permitted for short-duration 
contracts in which the coverage period is approximately one year or less. The standard was originally effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021. In November 2018 the International Accounting Standards Board proposed 
to delay the effective date by one year to 1 January 2022 and has then additionally delayed by another 1 year in March 
2020 to 1 January 2023. This Standard has been endorsed by the European Union on 23 November 2021.  
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Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet endorsed by the European Union 
 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the date of 
authorisation for issue of these financial statements, which have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. The 
Company has not yet adopted these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and the 
Company’s directors are of the opinion that there are no requirements that will have an impact on the Company’s 
financial statements in the period of initial application.  
 
 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 
2.1 Overview of insurance contracts  
 
The Company issues insurance contracts in various classes of general insurance business. The nature and extent of the 
underwriting and financial risks arising from these contracts are determined by the contract design. The risks are 
evaluated for risk management purposes in conjunction with the risks mitigated by related reinsurance contracts and the 
risks arising from financial assets held to fund the settlement of the insurance liabilities.  
 
2.2 Insurance and inward reinsurance contracts held  
 
2.2.1 Premiums written  
 
Premiums written comprise premiums on contracts incepted during the financial year as well as adjustments made in the 
year to premiums written in prior accounting periods. Premiums are shown gross of brokerage payable and exclude taxes 
and duties levied on them. Estimates are made for pipeline premiums, representing amounts due to the Company not 
yet notified. 
 
2.2.2 Inward reinsurance premiums assumed  
 
Inward premiums assumed comprise reinsurance premiums on contracts incepted during the financial year as well as 
adjustments made in the year to assumed reinsurance premiums written in prior accounting periods. Inward reinsurance 
premiums are shown gross of brokerage payable and exclude taxes and duties levied on them. Estimates are made for 
pipeline inward premiums, representing amounts due to the Company not yet notified. 
 
2.2.3 Unearned premiums  
 
Premiums written are earned proportionately/systematically (as appropriate) over the policy period, also referred to as 
the life of the contract of insurance, and recognized in the income statement. Unearned premiums are representative of 
premiums written which are considered to not have been earned at the financial reporting date.  
 
2.2.4 Acquisition costs  
 
Acquisition costs, comprising commission and other costs related to the acquisition of new insurance contracts are 
deferred to the extent that they are attributable to premiums unearned at the financial reporting date. Deferred 
acquisition costs are amortised proportionately/systematically (as appropriate) over the life of the contracts. 
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2.3 Insurance contracts liabilities  
 
2.3.1 Claims incurred and paid  
 
Gross claims incurred comprise the estimated cost of all claims occurring during the year, whether reported or not, 
including related direct and indirect claims handling costs and adjustments to claims outstanding from previous years. 
 
The provision for claims outstanding is assessed on an individual case basis and is based on the estimated ultimate cost 
of all claims notified but not settled by the financial reporting date. The provision also includes the estimated cost of 
claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) and claims incurred but not enough reported (“IBNER”) at the financial 
reporting date based on statistical methods. 
 
These methods generally involve projecting from past experience of the development of claims over time to form a view 
of the likely ultimate claims to be experienced for more recent underwriting, having regard to variations in the business 
accepted and the underlying terms and conditions. For the most recent years, where a high degree of volatility arises 
from projections, estimates may be based in part on output from rating and other models of the business accepted and 
assessments of underwriting conditions. Market standard statistical methods are used to assist in making these estimates. 
 
The reinsurers’ share of provisions for claims is based on the amounts of outstanding claims and projections for IBNR and 
IBNER, net of estimated irrecoverable amounts, having regard to the reinsurance programme in place for the class of 
business, the claims experience for the year and the current security rating of the reinsurance companies involved. 
 
The two most critical assumptions as regards claims provisions are that the past is a reasonable predictor of the likely 
level of claims development and that the rating and other models used for current business are fair reflections of the 
likely level of ultimate claims to be incurred. 
 
It is considered that the provisions for gross claims and related reinsurance recoveries are fairly stated on the basis of the 
information available at the reporting date. However, the ultimate liability will vary as a result of subsequent information 
and events and this may result in significant adjustments to the amounts provided. Adjustments to the amounts of claims 
provisions established in prior years are reflected in the financial statements for the period in which the adjustments are 
made. The methods used, and the estimates made, are reviewed regularly. 
 
2.3.2 Provision for unexpired risk  
 
A provision for unexpired risks is made where claims and related expenses arising after the end of the financial year in 
respect of contracts concluded before that date, are expected to exceed the unearned premiums and premiums 
receivable under these contracts, after the deduction of any acquisition costs deferred. The provision for unexpired risks 
is calculated by reference to classes of business which are managed together, after taking into account relevant 
investment return. 
 
These methods generally involve projecting from past experience of the development of claims over time to form a view 
of the likely ultimate claims to be experienced for more recent underwriting, having regard to variations in the business 
accepted and the underlying terms and conditions. For the first years of operation, where a high degree of volatility arises 
from projections, estimates may be based in part on output from internal and other models of the business accepted and 
assessments of underwriting conditions. Market standard statistical methods are used to assist in making these estimates. 
 
2.3.3 Liability adequacy test  
 
At the end of each reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the contract 
liabilities net of related deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”). In performing these tests, current best estimates of future 
contractual cash flows and claims handling and administration expenses, as well as investment income from the assets 
backing such liabilities, are used. Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss initially by writing off DAC and 
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by subsequently establishing a provision for losses arising from liability adequacy tests. Any DAC written off as a result 
of this test cannot subsequently be reinstated. 
 
2.4 Reinsurance contracts held  
 
2.4.1 Outward reinsurance premiums  
 
Outward premiums comprise reinsurance premiums ceded on contracts incepted during the financial year as well as 
adjustments made in the year to reinsurance premiums ceded in prior accounting periods. Outward premiums are shown 
gross of brokerage payable and exclude taxes and duties levied on them. Estimates are made for pipeline outward 
premiums, representing amounts due to reinsurers not yet notified. 
 
2.4.2 Unearned premiums  
 
Outward premiums ceded are earned proportionately/systematically (as appropriate) over the policy period, also 
referred to as the life of the contract of reinsurance, and recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Unearned outward 
reinsurance premiums are representative of outward premiums ceded which are considered to not have been earned at 
the financial reporting date.  
 
2.4.3 Acquisition costs  
 
Reinsurance commission receivable from quota share and facultative reinsurers, is deferred to the extent that it 
represents the reinsurers’ share of acquisition costs. Overrider commission receivable from reinsurers is recognised on 
inception of the related insurance contracts. Reinsurance share of deferred acquisition costs are amortised 
proportionately/systematically (as appropriate) over the life of the contracts.  
 
2.5 Foreign currencies 
 
The financial statements of the Company are presented in its functional currency, the Euro (€), being the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. 
 
Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated at the average quarterly 
exchange rates applicable on the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other 
than the functional currency are re-translated to the functional currency at the average quarterly exchange rate ruling 
at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the re-translation of monetary items 
are dealt with in profit or loss. Non monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the average quarterly exchange rate.  
 
2.6 Equipment  
 
2.6.1 Recognition and measurement  
 
Items of equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.  
 
If significant parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of equipment. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of equipment is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.6.2 Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of equipment less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or loss.  
 
The estimated useful lives of equipment are as follows: 

• computer equipment: 3–4 years 
• fixtures and fittings: 3–4 years. 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
2.6.3 Impairment of non financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
 
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units .  
 
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use 
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is 
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized. 
 
2.7 Leases 
 
A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration’. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset, the Company uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. At the commencement or on modification of a 
contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.  
 
As a lessee 
 
At lease commencement date, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The 
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct 
costs incurred, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments 
made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). The right-of-use asset is disclosed as 
a separate line item on the statement of financial position. 
 
At the commencement date, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, an acceptable 
approximation to the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.  
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;  
 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured to reflect any 
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changes in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, any reassessment or modification to the lease 
terms, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is re-measured, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is already 
reduced to zero. 
 
All leases are depreciated on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the 
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
 
The Company accounts for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using practical expedients. Instead of 
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
2.8 Financial Instruments 
 
2.8.1 Financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
Classification 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets held for investment purposes (investments) into ‘debt securities’ and ‘other 
investments’ (asset and mortgage backed securities) – all at fair value through profit or loss. Management determines 
the classification of its investments at acquisition and re-evaluates this at every reporting date. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated. Financial assets are classified as fair value through 
profit or loss as the Company’s documented investment strategy is to manage financial investments acquired on a fair 
value basis. 
 
Recognition and measurement  
 
Insurance, reinsurance and other receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are 
originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is an insurance, reinsurance and other trade receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. An insurance, reinsurance and other receivable 
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
Financial assets: Classification and subsequent measurement  
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; Fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”).  
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business 
model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first 
reporting period following the change in the business model.  
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 
FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
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A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:  
 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets; and  
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.  
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. 
This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. The Company does not hold an 
investments which are measured at FVOCI at the financial reporting date.  
 
Financial assets: Business model assessment  
 
The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio 
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The 
information considered includes:  

 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These 
include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a 
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related 
liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets  

 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;  
 the risks that affect the performance of the business model and how those risks are managed;  
 how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of 

the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and  
 the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 

expectations about future sales activity.  
 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales 
for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets. 
 
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL.  
 
Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest  
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.  
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company considers 
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term 
that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making 
this assessment, the Company considers:  

 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;  
 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;  
 prepayment and extension features; and  
 terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets.   
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A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment 
amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which 
may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset 
acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an 
amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which 
may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion 
if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.  
 
Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  
 

Classification Description  
Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.  
Financial assets at 
amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or 
loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.  

 
Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 
Financial liabilities (insurance, reinsurance and other payables) are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A 
financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such 
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any 
interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.  
 
2.8.2 De-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
Financial assets: Derecognition  
 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.  
 
The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred 
assets are not derecognised.  
 
Financial liabilities: Derecognition  
 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. 
The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at 
fair value.  
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration 
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.  
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2.8.3 Offsetting  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either 
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
2.8.4 Fair value of financial assets 
 
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique: 

 Level 1: The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date. 

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market 
data) for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

 Level 3: Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability. 
 
The fair value is based upon quotes from pricing services where available. These pricing services derive prices based on 
an average of quotes provided by brokers. Where multiple quotes are not available, the fair value is based upon evaluated 
pricing services, which typically use proprietary cash flow models and incorporate observable market inputs, such as 
credit spreads, benchmark quotes and other trade data. If such services do not provide coverage of the asset, then fair 
value is determined manually using indicative broker quotes, which are corroborated by recent market transactions in 
similar or identical assets. Where there is an active market for these assets and their fair value is the unadjusted quoted 
market price, these are classified as Level 1. Level 1 also includes bond funds, where fair value is based upon quoted 
prices. Where the market is inactive or the price is adjusted, but significant market observable inputs have been used by 
the pricing sources, then these are considered to be Level 2. This is typically the case for government agency debt, 
corporate debt and catastrophe bonds. Certain assets, for which prices or other market inputs are unobservable, are 
classified as Level 3. 
 
2.8.5 Impairment of financial assets  
 
The impairment model under IFRS 9 introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL). This applies to financial assets measured 
at amortised cost, contract assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments.  
 
The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost not arising from 
insurance contracts. This represents: 

• receivables from intermediaries acting on behalf of the insurer, where the payment of the premium by the 
policyholder to such intermediaries discharges the insurer’s right to payment from the policyholder under the 
insurance contract; and  

• other receivables.  
 
The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are 
measured at 12-month ECLs:  

 bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial 
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.  

 
Loss allowances for insurance, reinsurance and other receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based 
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. The 
Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180 days past due.  
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The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:  
 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to 

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or  
 the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.  

 
The Company considers an asset to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood 
definition of ‘investment grade’. The Company considers this to be BBB-or higher per Standard and Poor’s.  
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.  
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).  
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is 
exposed to credit risk.  
 
Measurement of ECLs  
 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Company expects to receive).  
 
An ECL rate is determined for the individual exposures within each credit risk grade based on delinquency status and 
actual credit loss experience over the past years. These rates are multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences 
between economic conditions during the period. ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.  
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets.  
 
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 
 
Receivables arising from insurance contracts are assessed at each end of the reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred 
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a 'loss event') and that the loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or a group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  
 
Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observing data that comes to the 
attention of the Company about the following events: 

i. Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; 
ii. A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency on payment; 
iii. It is becoming probably that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-organisation; 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on insurance receivables carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets' carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flow discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss.  
 
If in a subsequent period the amount the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment is recognised (such as improved credit rating), the previously recognised 
impairment cost is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Write off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual customers, the Company has a policy of 
writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial asset is 365 days past due based on historical experience of 
recoveries of similar assets. For corporate customers, the Company individually makes an assessment with respect to 
the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Company 
expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be 
subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  
 
2.9 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity date of three months or less. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 
2.10 Investment return 
 
Investment return comprises all investment income, realised investment gains and losses and movements in unrealised 
gains and losses, net of investment expenses, charges and interest. 
 
Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as the difference between sale proceeds and purchase price. 
Unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the fair valuation at the balance sheet date 
and their valuation at the previous balance sheet date, or purchase price, if acquired during the year, together with the 
reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in respect of investment disposals in the 
current period. 
 
Investment return is initially recorded in the non-technical account. A transfer is made from the non-technical account to 
the general business technical account. Investment return has been wholly allocated to the non-technical account. 
 
2.11 Current and deferred income tax 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in 
which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.  
 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any 
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statements of financial position date in the countries 
where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provision 
where appropriate. 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the related deferred tax asset 
is realised, or the deferred tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.  
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. The 
Company recognises a deferred tax liability in respect of all taxable temporary differences and a deferred tax asset in 
respect of all deductible temporary differences except to the extent that such deferred tax arises from the initial 
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recognition of goodwill or arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability which is not a business combination 
and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (loss). Recognition of a deferred 
tax asset is however limited to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilised. The Company re-assesses any unrecognised deferred tax asset at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether future taxable profit has become probable that allows the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different entities where there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
2.12 Share capital and dividends 
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the 
definition of a financial liability or financial asset. 
 
The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds, net of tax. 
 
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as liability in the Company’s financial statements 
in the year in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 
 
2.13 Segment reporting 
 
The operating segments are reported in line with the internal and external reporting requirements of the Company. In 
identifying the Company’s business segments, the chief operating decision maker is also guided by the Regulations 
under the Insurance Business Act, 1998 on the disclosure requirements relevant to specific insurance classes of business. 
The segments the Company reports to are Aviation, Accident and Health, Casualty, Tech (energy), Marine, Warranty 
and Political and Financial Risks.  
 
 

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  
 
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2 to these financial statements, the 
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on the 
Group’s historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the change affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the change affects both current and future periods.  
 
The following are the critical judgements, that the directors have made in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.  
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty:  
 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the financial reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
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the next financial year, are discussed below.  
 
3.1 Valuation of liabilities of non-life insurance contracts  
 
Estimates are made for both the expected ultimate cost of claims reported and claims incurred but not reported (‘IBNR’) 
and claims incurred but not enough reported (“IBNER”) at the reporting date. The estimate of IBNR/IBNER is generally 
subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than that for reported claims. The outcome of claims can significantly deviate 
from both the initial estimates and the estimates as disclosed in the financial statements. In calculating the estimated 
liability, the Company uses a variety of estimation techniques based upon statistical analyses of historical experience, 
from other Starr entities and other market sources, which assumes past trends can be used to project future 
developments. The gross carrying amount for non-life insurance contract liabilities, the summation of IBNR/IBNER, at the 
balance sheet date is €175.2 million (2020: €118.7 million). 
 
3.2 Valuation of reinsurance assets of non-life insurance contracts  
 
Estimates are made for both the expected ultimate reinsurers’ share of claims reported and reinsurers’ share of claims 
incurred but not reported (‘RI IBNR’) and reinsurers’ share of claims incurred but not enough reported (“RI IBNER”) at the 
reporting date. The estimate of RI IBNR/IBNER is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than that for the 
reinsurers’ share of reported claims. The outcome of the reinsurers’ share of claims can significantly deviate from both 
the initial estimates and the estimates as disclosed in the financial statements. In calculating the estimated asset, the 
Company uses a variety of estimation techniques based upon statistical analyses of historical experience, from other Starr 
entities and other market sources, which assumes past trends can be used to project future developments. The gross 
carrying amount for non-life insurance contract assets, the summation of RI IBNR/IBNER, at the balance sheet date is 
€138.9 million (2020: €95.2 million). 
 
3.3 Valuation of financial instruments  
 
Where possible, financial instruments are marked at prices quoted in active markets. In certain instances, such price 
information is not available for all instruments and the Company uses valuation techniques to measure such instruments. 
These techniques use “market observable inputs” where available, derived from similar assets in similar and active 
markets, from recent transaction prices for comparable items or from other observable market data. For positions where 
observable reference data are not available for some or all parameters the Company estimates the non-market 
observable inputs used in its valuation models. More details on this are given in notes 2.8 and 10 to these financial 
statements. 
 
Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include price information, 
volatility statistics, yield curves, credit spreads, liquidity statistics and other factors. The use of different valuation 
techniques could lead to different estimates of fair value. The value of financial instruments at the balance sheet date is 
€229.4 million (2020: €128.6 million). 
 
 

4. Capital management 
 
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital base and healthy 
capital ratios to support its business growth plans and to comply with all regulatory requirements on an ongoing basis 
whilst assessing the impact of shareholder returns on its capital employed, defined as shareholder’s equity. 
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The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to: 
 Comply with the obligations to hold Eligible Own Funds to cover the Solvency Capital Requirement (“SCR”) and 

Minimum Capital Requirement (“MCR”) in terms of the Insurance Business Act, 1998, (Chapter 403 of the 
Laws of Malta) and the applicable Insurance Rules issued under the Insurance Business Act (‘Insurance Rules’) 
by the Malta Financial Services Authority (‘MFSA’); 

 Safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

 Provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance contracts commensurately with the level of risk. 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes the necessary adjustments in light of changes in economic 
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, capitalise 
contributions received from its shareholders or adjust its distribution of profits. 
 
The Company is required to hold regulatory capital for its general insurance business in compliance with the Insurance 
Rules issued by the MFSA. More specifically, the Company’s Minimum Capital Requirement Absolute Floor stands at 
€3,700,000 as per paragraph 5.6.4 of Chapter 5 (‘Valuation of assets and liabilities, technical provisions, own funds, 
Solvency Capital Requirement, Minimum Capital Requirement and investment rules’) of Part B of the Insurance Rules. 
The minimum capital requirements must be maintained at all times throughout the period. The Company monitors 
the level of its own funds on a regular basis. Any transactions that may potentially affect the Company’s own 
funds and solvency position are immediately reported to the directors and shareholders for resolution prior to 
notifying the MFSA. 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Company was in compliance with the above regulatory requirements and headroom was 
observed in the Solvency II Ratio of Eligible Own Funds to SCR of 189% and the Ratio of Eligible Own Funds to MCR of 
754%.  
 
 

5. Management of insurance and financial risk 
 
The Company is a party to contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section summarises these 
risks and the way that the Company manages them. 
 
5.1 Insurance risk  
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that an insured event occurs. The uncertainty of the amount 
of the resulting claim also adds to the risk. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore 
unpredictable. 
 
The terms and conditions of the contracts set out the basis for the determination of the Company’s liability should the 
insured event occur. The Company underwrites annual renewable general insurance contracts. These are ‘pure risk’ 
insurance contracts where the obligation of the Company towards the insured is the payment of a claim in the 
event of property damage, ensuing business interruption occurring on the insured premises or physical injury / death of 
employees occurs whilst the policies are in force. 
 
For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the 
principal risk that the Company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments 
exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims 
and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims 
and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques. 
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Experience shows that the larger or more diversified the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the 
relative variability about the expected outcome will be. Additionally, the insurance underwriting strategy of the 
Company is to geographically spread the insurance risks accepted to reduce variability of the expected outcome. 
 
Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, and lack of 
geographical spread. 
 
The Company manages these risks by engaging the services of an actuary to support the directors’ views on the 
adequacy of its loss reserves. The Company also manages its insurance risk through its reinsurance strategy which is in 
place and which contributes towards the reduction of the relevant risk through the cession of such business to 
reinsurers.  
 
a) Frequency and severity of claims 
 
For personal accident insurance contracts (Class 1), risks do not vary significantly in any given insured location. 
Concentration of employees on any given site could have an impact on the severity of benefit payments on a 
portfolio basis. For contracts with fixed benefits there are no mitigating terms and conditions that reduce the 
insurance risk accepted other than an annual aggregate limit per policy, which the Company has imposed. 
 
For contracts where physical or intellectual property damage/loss and business interruption are the insured risks 
(Classes 8 & 16), the most significant factors that could increase the overall aggregate severity of losses resulting in 
earlier or more claims than expected is a major regional natural catastrophe effecting more than one factory or a 
major fire or explosion affecting one of the major insured sites. At present, these risks vary in relation to size/value 
and location of the risk insured by the Company. A significant mitigating factor under all of these policies is an 
annual aggregate indemnity limit in addition to the per loss claim limit under each policy. 
 
b) Counter-party (reinsurance) risk 
 
The insurance Company has analysed the reinsurance counterparty exposures as follows: 
 

2021 AAA AA A BBB Not rated Total 
 € € € € € € 
       
Reinsurance assets       
Claims outstanding - 15,991,590 82,029,491 15,948 289,828 98,326,857 
IBNR/IBNER - 19,955,407 115,849,596 2,326,449 737,465 138,868,917 
Unearned premiums - 27,030,939 84,324,753 1,881,863 642,059 113,879,707 
 - 62,977,936 282,203,840 4,224,260 1,669,352 351,075,481 

 
2020 AAA AA A BBB Not rated Total 
 € € € € € € 
       
Reinsurance assets       
Claims outstanding - 2,253,269 46,334,678 6,045 383,673 48,977,665 
IBNR/IBNER - 3,567,905 90,075,964 1,031,129 544,482 95,219,480 
Unearned premiums - 3,365,580 84,643,214 980,969 3,500,318 92,490,081 
 - 9,186,754 221,053,856 2,018,143 4,428,473 236,687,226 

 
5.2 Financial risks  
The Company is exposed to financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities and insurance and reinsurance 
assets and liabilities. The key financial risk is that the proceeds from its financial assets are not sufficient to fund the 
obligations arising from insurance contracts. The components of financial risks for the Company are credit risk, market 
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risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the risk management committee under policies approved at Board Meetings. This 
committee identifies and evaluates financials risks in close co-operation with the Company’s operating units. This 
committee provides principles for overall risk management. 
 
The reports on the risk management are produced periodically to the key management personnel of the Company. 
 
a) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that the Company becomes exposed to losses if a specific counterparty fails to perform its contractual 
obligations in a timely manner, causing the Company loss and/or impacting the ability to meet its claims as they fall due. 
Credit risk can also arise from underlying causes that have an impact upon the creditworthiness of all counterparties of a 
particular description or geographical location. The Company is exposed to credit risk in its investment portfolio and with 
its premium and reinsurance receivables.  
The Company seeks to manage this risk by placing the majority of its cash with quality financial institutions thereby 
reducing the concentration of counterparty credit risk to an acceptable level. 
 
Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Company’s liability as primary 
insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Company remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. 
 
The credit worthiness of reinsurers is monitored by reviewing available financial information, thereby ensuring the 
continuous financial strength of the reinsurers. The Board approves the reinsurance protection of the Company. 
 
Total assets bearing credit risks are the following: 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Assets subjected to credit risk   
Investments 229,386,774 128,559,374 
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 351,075,481 236,687,226 
Insurance receivables 130,170,164 107,553,818 
Reinsurance receivables 17,525,260 9,336,893 
Other receivables  1,861,035 1,046,191 
Cash and cash equivalents  14,888,788 31,449,803 
 744,907,502 514,633,305 

 
The carrying amounts disclosed above represent the maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 
Aging of Debt 
 
It is important that the Company can pay its obligations as they fall due. Levels of cash are therefore managed on a daily 
basis and buffers of liquid assets are held in excess of the immediate requirements. This is to reduce the risk of being 
forced sellers of any of the Company’s assets. The Company funds its insurance liabilities with a portfolio of cash and debt 
securities exposed to market risk. The following tables indicate the ageing past due of cash flows arising from assets at 
31 December 2020, excluding the provision for expected credit losses. 
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2021 

 
Current 

Up to 3 
months 

3 to 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

Over 1 
year 

 
Total 

 € € € € € € 
       

Receivables       
Insurance receivables 115,029,305 14,314,813 1,102,602 40,414 - 130,487,134 
Reinsurance receivables 17,525,260 - - - - 17,525,260 
Other receivables 1,861,035 - - - - 1,861,035 
 134,415,600 14,314,813 1,102,602 40,414 - 149,873,429 

 
 
2020 

 
Current 

Up to 3 
months 

3 to 6 
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

Over 1 
year 

 
Total 

 € € € € € € 
       
Receivables       
Insurance receivables 72,398,762 22,264,317 6,632,620 6,452,423 151,226 107,899,348 
Reinsurance receivables 9,336,893 - - - - 9,336,893 
Other receivables 1,046,191 - - - - 1,046,191 
 82,781,846 22,264,317 6,632,620 6,452,423 151,226 118,282,432 

 
The tables below show the breakdown of the investment portfolio exposures by credit quality as at 31 December 2021.  
 

2021 AAA AA A BBB Not rated Total 
 € € € € € € 
       
Financial instruments       
Investments 33,964,145 47,523,507 96,591,114 44,282,508 7,025,500 229,386,774 
Cash at bank - - 14,888,788 - - 14,888,788 
 33,964,145 47,523,507 111,479,902 44,282,508 7,025,500 244,275,562 

 
2020 AAA AA A BBB Not rated Total 
 € € € € € € 
       
Financial instruments       
Investments 5,337,640 11,877,659 58,275,341 47,554,448 5,514,286 128,559,374 
Cash at bank - - 31,449,803 - - 31,449,803 
 5,337,640 11,877,659 89,725,144 47,554,448 5,514,286 160,009,177 

 
Maximum credit exposure 
 
It is the Company’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across its credit portfolio. This enables 
management to focus on the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of business, 
geographic regions and products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics combined with 
processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk. All internal risk 
ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the Company’s rating policy. The 
attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly.  
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During the period, no credit exposure limits were exceeded. The Company actively manages its product mix to ensure 
that there is no significant concentration of credit risk. 
 
All debt securities and other fixed income securities shown above are listed. 
 
Expected credit losses  
 
The Company allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on data that is determined to be predictive of the risk 
of loss (including but not limited to aging of receivables, external ratings, audited financial statements, management 
accounts and cash flow projections and available press information about customers) and applying experienced credit 
judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of 
default and are aligned to the relevant aging of the respective receivables.  
 
From total receivables, including insurance, reinsurance and other receivables, of €149.9 million (2020: €118.3 million) 
excluding the recognised provision for expected credit losses, around €24.2 million as at 31 December 2021 are subject 
to expected credit losses which has been determined at €0.3 million (2020: €0.4 million).  
 
b) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market prices. Market risk reflects interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price risk.  
 
The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the exposure to market risk: 

a) A market risk policy exists that sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes market risk for the 
Company. Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the risk 
committee. The policy is reviewed regularly for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment. 

b) Strict control over derivative instruments (e.g., equity derivatives are only permitted to be held to facilitate 
portfolio management or to reduce investment risk).  

c) For assets backing outstanding claims provisions, market risk is managed by matching the duration and profile of 
assets to the technical provisions they are backing. This helps manage market risk to the extent that changes in 
the values of assets are matched by a corresponding movement in the values of the technical provisions. 

 
Currency Risk – Asset Liability Matching by currency risk 
 
Underwriting assets are initially held in the settlement currencies of Sterling, Euros, US Dollars, which represent the 
majority of the Company’s liabilities by currency, thus reducing the underwriting asset liability matching currency risk. 
The tables below present the Company’s assets and liabilities by currency. The amounts are stated in the Euro equivalent 
of the local currency, in order that the amounts can be reconciled to the Company’s statement of financial position. The 
foreign exchange policy is to maintain assets in the currency in which the cash flows from liabilities are to be settled. This 
minimises the currency risk inherent in these contracts so far is allowed by regulatory requirements. Profits or losses are 
converted to be reflected in the net assets of the functional currency, Euro. 
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2021 GBP USD EUR OTHER Total 
 € € € € € 
      
      
Debt securities  - 89,972,905 117,680,746 - 207,653,651 
Other investments - 12,308,968 9,424,155 - 21,733,123 
Insurance receivables 899,628 53,203,838 69,459,164 6,607,534 130,170,164 
Reinsurance receivables 1,024,668 9,400,237 7,100,355 - 17,525,260 
Other receivables - 486,264 1,374,771 - 1,861,035 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,166,811 12,773,544 863,815 84,618 14,888,788 
Total assets 3,091,107 178,145,756 205,903,006 6,692,152 393,832,021 
      
Reinsurance premium payables 3,751,195 62,704,051 71,849,567 - 138,304,813 
Insurance payables - - 3,189,367 - 3,189,367 
Lease liabilities - - 405,212 - 405,212 
Other payables - 3,301,768 2,671,934 115,443 6,089,145 
Taxation payable - - 722,820 - 722,820 
Total liabilities 3,751,195 66,005,819 78,838,900 115,443 148,711,357 
      
Net assets (660,088) 112,139,937 127,064,106 6,576,709 245,120,664 

 
2020 GBP USD EUR OTHER Total 
 € € € € € 
      
      
Debt securities  - 51,574,629 68,664,675 - 120,239,304 
Other investments - 1,800,362 6,519,708 - 8,320,070 
Insurance receivables 1,149,090 42,262,393 57,754,060 6,388,275 107,553,818 
Reinsurance receivables 788,632 2,848,088 5,700,173 - 9,336,893 
Other receivables - - 1,046,191 - 1,046,191 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,550,006 12,744,615 15,937,732 217,450 31,449,803 
Total assets 4,487,728 111,230,087 155,622,539 6,605,725 277,946,079 
      
Reinsurance premium payables 2,349,731 39,233,787 65,527,619 - 107,111,137 
Insurance payables - - 1,796,772 - 1,796,772 
Lease liabilities - - 310,348 - 310,348 
Other payables 119,385 3,050,706 4,093,185 886,740 8,150,016 
Taxation payable - - 617,938 - 617,938 
Total liabilities 2,469,116 42,284,493 72,345,862 886,740 117,986,211 
      
Net assets 2,018,612 68,945,594 83,276,677 5,718,985 159,959,868 

 
Policyholders’ assets are held in the settlement currencies of Sterling, US Dollars, and Euros which represent the majority 
of the Company’s liabilities by currency. This limits the underlying foreign exchange risk. 
 
If the foreign currencies were to strengthen/weaken by 10% against the Company’s functional currency, Euro, the 
movement in the monetary net assets and liabilities of the Company would result in the following gains/(losses) in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income at 31 December 2021. 
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2021 GBP USD 
 € € 
   
Currency risk   
10% strengthening of currency against EUR (66,009) 11,213,994 
10% weakening of currency against EUR 66,009 (11,213,994) 

 
2020 GBP USD 
 € € 
   
Currency risk   
10% strengthening of currency against EUR 201,861 6,894,559 
10% weakening of currency against EUR (201,861) (6,894,559) 

 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the Company to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed rate 
instruments expose the Company to fair value interest risk. The Company has no significant concentration of interest rate 
risk. Each single investment counterparty exposure is lower than 5% of the whole value of the investment portfolio. 
Insurance liabilities are not discounted and therefore not exposed to interest rate risk. 
 
The sensitivity analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in interest rates with all other variables held 
constant, showing the impact on profit and net assets of the effects of changes in interest rates on: 
 

a. Fixed rate financial assets and liabilities; and 
b. Variable rate financial assets and liabilities. 

 
  2021 2020 
 Interest Rate € € 
    
Assets subjected to interest rate risk    
Debt securities Fixed 207,653,651 120,239,304 
Other investments Fixed 21,733,123 8,320,070 
Monetary Assets  229,386,774 128,559,374 

 
The sensitivity analysis below measures the impact on profit or loss for the year (for items recorded at fair value through 
profit or loss) that would arise from a reasonably possible change in interest rates at the reporting date on financial 
instruments at the period end.  
 

Sensitivity analysis 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
   
Impact of 50 basis point increase on result (1,146,934) (642,797) 
Impact of 50 basis point decrease on result 1,146,934 642,797 
Impact of 50 basis point increase on net assets (1,146,934) (642,797) 
Impact of 50 basis point decrease on net assets 1,146,934 642,797 
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c) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity 
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.  
 
It is important that the Company can pay its obligations as they fall due. Levels of cash are therefore managed on a daily 
basis and buffers of liquid assets are held in excess of the immediate requirements. This is to reduce the risk of being 
forced sellers of any of the Company’s assets. The Company funds its insurance liabilities with a portfolio of cash and debt 
securities exposed to market risk as it is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources mainly from claims and 
benefits arising from long term contracts. The Company manages its funds in such a manner as to ensure an adequate 
portion of available funds to meet such calls. 
 
As at reporting date the Company held €14.7 million (2020: €13.8 million) in current accounts which are liquid in nature 
and thereby minimising this risk. 
 
In respect of catastrophic events there is also a liquidity risk associated with the timing differences between gross cash 
out-flows and expected reinsurance recoveries. 
 
The following table indicates the expected timing of undiscounted cash flows arising from the Company’s liabilities: 
 

 0-1 year 1-5 years > 5 years Total 
 2021 2021 2021 2021 
 € € € € 
     
Liabilities     
Technical Provisions 323,102,577 115,308,511 15,462,208 453,873,296 
Insurance payables 138,304,813 - - 138,304,813 
Reinsurance premium payable 3,189,367 - - 3,189,367 
Lease Liabilities 6,089,145 - - 6,089,145 
Other payables 147,180 258,032 - 405,212 
Taxation payable 722,820 - - 722,820 
Total 471,555,902 115,566,543 15,462,208 602,584,653 

 
 0-1 year 1-5 years >5 years Total 
 2020 2020 2020 2020 
  € € € 
     
Liabilities     
Technical Provisions 219,614,124 79,032,231 10,367,471 309,013,826 
Insurance payables 1,796,772 - - 1,796,772 
Reinsurance premium payable 107,111,137 - - 107,111,137 
Lease Liabilities 109,387 200,961 - 310,348 
Other payables 8,150,016 - - 8,150,016 
Taxation payable 617,938 - - 617,938 
Total 337,399,374 79,233,192 10,367,471 427,000,037 

 
The directors expect that all liabilities as at 31 December 2020, including insurance liabilities will be substantially settled 
during the year ending 31 December 2021. 
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The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk: 
 A liquidity risk policy exists that sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes liquidity risk. 

Compliance with the policy is monitored and any exposures and breaches are reported to the risk committee. The 
policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment. 

 Guidelines on asset allocation, portfolio limit structures and maturity profiles of assets are set, in order to ensure 
that sufficient funding is available to meet insurance and investment contracts obligations.  

 
Contingency funding plans are set up which specify minimum proportions of funds to meet emergency calls as well as 
specifying events that would trigger such plans. The Company’s catastrophe excess-of-loss reinsurance contracts contain 
clauses permitting the immediate draw down of funds to meet claim payments should claim events exceed a certain size. 
 
5.3 Fair value estimation  
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at 
amortised cost approximated their fair values due to their short-term nature. 
 
 

6. Segment Information 
 
Management has determined the operating segments based on the global segments used by the Group for strategic 
purposes. These operating segments offer different insurance products, are managed separately and are based on the 
relevant classes of business written by the Company.  
 
The Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403, Laws of Malta) requires that insurers to present segment information which has 
been analysed by the Company on the basis of reportable business segments and by producing branches.  
 

Reportable Segments Operations 
Aviation Aviation insurance segment within the Company  
Tech (Energy) Tech, also referred to as construction, insurance segment within the Company 
Warranty Warranty insurance segment within the Company 
Marine  Marine insurance segment within the Company 
Accident & Health Accident & health insurance segment within the Company 
Casualty Casualty insurance segment within the Company 
Political & Financial Risks Political & financial risks insurance segment within the Company 

 
Offices/Branches Operations 
Malta Head Office 
United Kingdom Authorised Third Country Branch 
Netherlands Authorised EEA Branch 
Germany Authorised EEA Branch 
Spain Authorised EEA Branch 
Norway2 Authorised EEA Branch 
Slovakia Authorised EEA Branch 
Czech Republic Authorised EEA Branch 
Hungary Authorised EEA Branch 

 
The Company writes its business outside of Malta and operates only in general business. The Company commenced 

 
 
 
 
2 The Norwegian branch of SEIL is gradually ceasing to writing insurance business during 2022 and its business is planned to be placed into run off. 
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writing insurance business in 2019.  
 
Gross premiums written and gross premiums earned by reportable segments: 
 

 Gross Written 
Premiums 

Gross Earned 
Premiums 

Gross Written 
Premiums 

Gross Earned 
Premiums 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 
 € € € € 
     
Aviation 75,899,704 70,467,141 63,209,820 52,611,768 
Tech (Energy) 123,481,025 109,907,986 111,927,188 71,653,793 
Warranty 171,030,354 170,068,348 144,625,968 145,655,113 
Marine  18,330,269 18,353,108 16,923,262 16,683,456 
Accident & Health 8,342,675 6,202,764 5,292,103 2,355,847 
Casualty  38,912,302 29,644,483 22,445,510 11,693,417 
Political and Financial Risks 211,831 167,594 315,751 94,861 
Totals for the year 436,208,160 404,811,424 364,739,602 300,748,255 

 
Gross premiums written and gross premiums earned by office and branches (permanent establishments): 
 

 Gross Written 
Premiums 

Gross Earned 
Premiums 

Gross Written 
Premiums 

Gross Earned 
Premiums 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 
 € € € € 
     
Malta 171,030,354 170,068,348 144,625,968 145,655,113 
United Kingdom 170,439,465 163,853,399 170,604,259 121,743,492 
Netherlands 25,372,145 24,211,802 22,582,232 19,700,825 
Germany 26,428,008 15,155,956 13,520,632 5,176,882 
Spain 13,569,212 9,863,958 3,101,643 581,102 
Norway 1,533,318 2,304,148 2,706,412 2,205,247 
Slovakia 5,131,544 4,194,259 5,010,231 4,559,007 
Switzerland 20,061,611 12,176,950 - - 
Czech Republic 1,127,245 1,591,101 1,418,062 529,262 
Hungary 1,515,258 1,391,503 1,170,163 597,325 
Totals for the year 436,208,160 404,811,424 364,739,602 300,748,255 

 
Additionally, the Company has further analysed its written and earned premiums on the basis whether it is direct 
insurance business or assumed reinsurance business:  
 

 Gross Written 
Premiums 

Gross Earned 
Premiums 

Gross Written 
Premiums 

Gross Earned 
Premiums 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 
 € € € € 
     
Direct Insurance  374,614,704 365,949,701 335,436,989 274,858,646 
Assumed Reinsurance 61,593,456 38,861,723 29,302,613 25,889,609 
Totals for the year 436,208,160 404,811,424 364,739,602 300,748,255 
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Gross premiums ceded and ceded premiums earned by reportable segments: 
 

 Gross Ceded 
Premiums 

Ceded Earned 
Premiums 

Gross Ceded 
Premiums 

Ceded Earned 
Premiums 

 2021 2021 2020 2020 
 € € € € 
     
Aviation 52,021,725 49,123,707 44,449,404 38,557,589 
Tech (Energy) 102,679,769 93,072,315 89,754,217 58,934,464 
Warranty 171,030,354 170,068,348 144,625,968 145,655,113 
Marine  18,298,939 18,272,120 17,514,764 16,788,490 
Accident & Health 5,674,486 4,063,317 3,213,950 1,539,218 
Casualty  25,592,618 19,339,426 14,663,314 7,596,913 
Political and Financial Risks 148,282 117,315 221,025 66,403 
Totals for the year 375,446,174 354,056,548 314,442,642 269,138,190 

 
The Company generated 39% of the written premiums through warranty insurance contracts which were underwritten 
within the European Union through freedom of services. This class represented the highest grossing insurance class for 
the entity in terms of premium volumes. The aviation and the tech (energy) classes of business generated 17% and 28% 
of gross written premiums, respectively. These were primarily underwritten through the EEA branches which the 
Company has set up and which underwrite business through freedom of establishment and services.  
 
Gross claims incurred, the corresponding reinsurance balances for claims incurred and net technical income by 
segments: 
 

For the Year Ended 
31 December 2021 

Gross Claims 
Incurred 

RI Share 
Claims Incurred 

Net Technical 
Income 

 2021 2021 2021 
 € € € 
    
Aviation 34,290,567 21,799,050 2,849,871 
Tech (Energy) 86,830,063  76,094,522 14,697,856 
Warranty 59,512,443  59,512,443 1,555,427 
Marine  13,134,772 12,958,643 916,626 
Accident & Health 3,793,036  2,505,116 (433,902) 
Casualty 19,401,566  12,351,484 473,613 
Political and Financial Risks 83,981  58,817 5,367 
Totals for the year 217,046,428  185,280,075 20,064,858 

 
For the Year Ended 
31 December 2020 

Gross Claims 
Incurred 

RI Share 
Claims Incurred 

Net Technical 
Income 

 2020 2020 2020 
 € € € 
    
Aviation 30,215,231 21,862,305 2,459,162 
Tech (Energy) 43,861,161 33,304,928 14,847,476 
Warranty 59,050,580 59,050,580 1,204,182 
Marine  10,511,552 10,696,540 1,201,982 
Accident & Health 1,441,013 832,690 156,367 
Casualty 6,063,068 3,952,535 782,403 
Political and Financial Risks 45,103 31,572 (6,923) 
Totals for the year 151,187,708 129,731,150 20,644,649 
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The Company gross claims incurred amount to €217.0 million (2020: €151.2 million) which represents around 54% of 
gross earned premium. A major element of gross claims incurred are related to tech (energy) insurance business and 
amount to 40% of gross incurred claims on the business underwritten. Another major element of gross claims incurred 
are related to warranty insurance business and account for 27% of gross incurred claims on the business underwritten. 
One notes that the warranty business is 100% ceded outwards and the net exposure to such business is expected to be 
nil. Overall, 85% of gross claims incurred are expected to be recovered from reinsurers as a result of the Company’s 
reinsurance strategy. Net technical income amounts to €20.0 million (2020: €20.6 million) and this is generated through 
net commissions earned from the underwriting and the cession of insurance business.  
 
 

7. Net other technical income/(expenses) 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Reinsurance commissions (ii) 159,768,339 130,870,572 
Acquisition costs (i) (139,617,445) (113,518,218) 
Net change in deferred acquisition costs (86,036) 3,292,295 
At 31 December 20,064,858 20,644,649 

 
i. Acquisition costs represent commission/fees paid in connection with gross premiums written. Commission paid to 

related parties amounted to €0.8 million (2020: €0.6 million). 
 
ii. Reinsurance commissions represent commissions/fees received in connection with premiums ceded to 

reinsurers. Commission received from related parties amounted to €6.9 million (2020: €7.5 million).  
 
 

8. Administrative expenses and employee information 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Depreciation on equipment (see Note 11)  21,903 21,186 
Depreciation on right of use asset (see Note 12)  133,188 153,668 
Other expenses  12,106,353 11,552,029 
Staff costs 5,022,054 4,495,911 
At 31 December 17,283,498 16,222,794 

 
Other expenses include an amount charged by a related party of €8.67 million (2020: €8.26 million) and the part reversal 
of the expected credit loss provision amounting to €0.12 million (2020: €0.35 million). 
 
Administrative expenses have been allocated to the technical and the non-technical account as follows:  
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Allocated to the technical account 14,639,962 13,679,656 
Allocated to the nontechnical account 2,643,536 2,543,138 
At 31 December 17,283,498 16,222,794 
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8.1 Fees paid to the Company’s auditor 
Fees (excluding VAT), included in other expenses, charged by the Company’s auditors for the services rendered during 
the financial year ended are as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Annual statutory audit fees 185,000 168,750 
Solvency II audit fees 31,000 35,000 
Annual statutory audit fees adjustment related to prior year - 10,500 
 211,000 214,250 

 
The amounts paid, exclusive of VAT, during the year to the Company’s auditors for audit services rendered are as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Audit fees for the 2019 financial year  6,500 123,400 
Audit fees for the 2020 financial year 120,260 - 
Audit fees for the 2021 financial year 43,771 - 
 170,531 123,400 

 
Remuneration for other assurance services provided by connected undertakings of the Company’s statutory auditor 
during the year amounted to €nil (2020: €13,500), exclusive of VAT. 
 
8.2 Employee costs, benefits and information 

 
 

2021 2020 

 € € 
   
Staff costs and employee benefits comprise:   
Directors’ remuneration 275,368 370,505 
Salaries  4,083,299 3,530,813 
Social security contributions 503,286 418,326 
Other staff costs  160,101 176,267 
Total staff costs and employee benefits  5,022,054 4,495,911 

 
The average number of employees employed during the year was: 
 

 2021 2020 
 No. No. 
   
Director - 1 
Management personnel 9 7 
General staff 40 30 
At 31 December 49 38 
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9. Taxation 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Current tax expense 3,811,256 3,416,532 
Tax charge for the year 3,811,256 3,416,532 

 
The tax on the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the domestic tax 
rate as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
Tax Reconciliation   
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 23,034,262 14,295,746 
Tax on ordinary profit at the rate of 35% (8,061,992) (5,003,511) 
   
Tax effect of:   
Notional interest deduction 466,572 421,674 
Disallowed (expenses)/income  (162,235) (593,473) 
Adjustment relating to prior year (141,764) (334,616) 
Adjustment relating to different tax rates in other jurisdictions 3,989,257 1,987,684 
Other adjustments 98,906 105,710 
Tax charge for the year (3,811,256) (3,416,532) 

 
The Maltese income tax system is governed by the Income Tax Act (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Malta). The substantively 
enacted corporate income tax rate in Malta stands at 35% of corporate taxable profits. The charge for income tax on 
profits derived from local and foreign operations has been calculated at the applicable tax rates enacted within each 
jurisdiction. The weighted average of statutory tax rates was 17% in 2021 (2020: 24%). Compared with 2020, the 
decrease in the weighted average income tax rate reflects the geographic mix of profits and reflects a combination of 
lower rates in certain jurisdictions. This has resulted in a lower weighted average statutory tax rate in 2021 as compared 
with 2020. 
 
 

10. Investments 
 
Investments include a portfolio of corporate bonds with varying maturities.  
 
The investments are summarised by measurement category as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Investments at FVTPL comprise:   
Debt securities 207,653,651 120,239,304 
Other investments 21,733,123 8,320,070 
At 31 December 229,386,774 128,559,374 

 
The Company’s investment portfolio comprises fixed income corporate and other securities having varying maturities. 
These securities are traded on markets which are not highly active or the price of which is adjusted based on significant 
market observable inputs. Additionally, the Company’s investment portfolio also includes mortgage backed securities 
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for which prices or market inputs are unobservable.  
 
Maturity of fixed income debt securities: 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Within one year 3,462,272 3,768,894 
Between one and two years 38,144,036 8,530,103 
Between two and five years 65,895,765 49,075,109 
Over 5 years 121,884,701 67,185,268 
At 31 December 229,386,774 128,559,374 

 
All securities are classified as fair value through profit or loss and the majority of the securities are non-current in nature. 
 
The movements in investments classified as fair value through profit or loss are summarised as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Year ended 31 December   
At beginning of year 128,559,374 43,705,127 
Additions 141,568,843 122,872,023 
Disposals/redemptions  (38,359,701) (36,299,077) 
Net foreign exchange gains/losses 2,296,088 (2,451,177) 
Net fair value gains/losses (4,677,830) 732,478 
At 31 December 229,386,774 128,559,374 

 
All debt securities and other fixed income securities shown above are listed and classified as follows:  
 

2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 € € € € 
     
Debt securities  - 207,653,651 - 207,653,651 
Other investments  - 17,080,339 4,652,784 21,733,123 
Total  224,733,990 4,652,784 229,386,774 

 
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 € € € € 
     
Debt securities  - 120,239,304 - 120,239,304 
Other investments  - 805,187 7,514,883 8,320,070 
Total - 121,044,491 7,514,883 128,559,374 

 
The Company has determined that the majority of the investments held at the end of the year are classified as level 2 
investments based on the predefined fair value hierarchy specified in note 2 to these financial statements. Additionally, 
a minority portion of the investment portfolio is classified as level 3 investments based on the predefined fair value 
hierarchy specified in note 2 to these financial statements.  
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, 
then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest 
level input that is significant to the entire measurement.  
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11. Equipment  
 
Equipment comprises computer equipment and fixtures and fittings used by company personnel across various office 
locations.  
 

 Fixtures and 
fittings 

Computer 
equipment 

 
Total 

 € € € 
Cost    
At 1 January 2021 38,318 8,757 47,075 
Additions 14,837 59,142 73,979 
At 31 December 2021 53,155 67,899 121,054 
    
Accumulated Depreciation    
At 1 January 2021 15,300 6,242 21,542 
Charge for the year 16,983 4,920 21,903 
At 31 December 2021 32,283 11,162 43,445 
    
Net book value    
At 31 December 2020 23,018 2,515 25,533 
At 31 December 2021 20,872 56,737 77,609 

 
No items of equipment were held by the Company during the comparative year ended 31 December 2020.  
 
The assets recognised on the Company’s balance sheet were acquired from a related entity, Starr Underwriting Agency 
Limited, through the taking over of fixed assets held at the related entity’s continental European branches. The asset 
was transferred to the entity at its carrying amount as held on the related entity’s books. The depreciation charge on 
the acquired assets is calculated on the basis of the estimated remaining useful life of the assets when acquired.  
 
 

12. Right of use asset  
 
Right of use assets related to leased motor vehicles which are leased for an average period of around 3 to 5 years.  
 

  2021 2020 
  Motor vehicles Motor vehicles 
  € € 
Cost    
At 1 January   503,127 230,303 
Additions  228,052 272,824 
At 31 December   731,179 503,127 
    
Accumulated Depreciation    
At 1 January   192,779 39,111 
Charge for the year  133,188 153,668 
At 31 December   325,967 192,779 
    
Net book value    
At 1 January   310,348 191,192 
At 31 December   405,212 310,348 
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13. Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets 
 
13.1 Analysis of the insurance contract liabilities and the reinsurance contract assets  
 
Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets, comprising technical provisions and reinsurers’ share of 
technical provisions, are classified as current in nature and such are expected to be settled within the Company’s 
operating cycle.  
 
Expected settlement of these technical provisions is uncertain and is based on the date on which claims are reported. 
Actuarial assessments are performed to analyze the payment patterns of such provisions. Technical provisions are based 
on the best estimate valuation of the expected cost of claims in relation to the premiums earned. The reserving 
methodology is described in note 2 to these financial statements.  
 

 Gross Reinsurance Net 
 € € € 
    
At 31 December 2021    

- Claims outstanding 124,209,122 98,326,857 25,882,265 
- IBNR/IBNER 175,245,421 138,868,917 36,376,504 
- Unearned premiums  154,418,753 113,879,707 40,539,046 

 453,873,296 351,075,481 102,797,815 
    
At 31 December 2020    

- Claims outstanding  67,317,613 48,977,665 18,339,948 
- IBNR/IBNER 118,674,196 95,219,480 23,454,716 
- Unearned premiums  123,022,017 92,490,081 30,531,936 

 309,013,826 236,687,226 72,326,600 
 
Movements in technical provisions are analysed as follows.  
 
a. Claims outstanding, including IBNR/IBNER  
 

 2021 2020 2021 2020 
 Gross Gross Net Net 
 € € € € 
     
At 1 January 185,991,809 11,685,954 41,794,664 1,756,391 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities     

- arising from current year claims  132,257,324 152,464,562 20,389,175 20,857,347 
- arising from prior year claims 73,193,634 (1,276,854) 9,182,515 599,212 
- arising from a Part VII Portfolio 

Transfer 
 

11,595,470 
 

76,178,385 
 

2,194,663 
 

22,321,383 
- recognition of ULAE 365,631 128,311 365,631 - 

Claims settled during the period (109,925,881) (50,686,791) (12,869,491) (3,240,069) 
Effects of Foreign Exchange Rates 5,976,556 (2,501,758) 1,201,612 (499,600) 
Total at the end of the year 299,454,543 185,991,809 62,258,769 41,794,664 
     
Claims outstanding  124,209,122 67,317,613 25,882,265 18,339,948 
IBNR/IBNER 175,245,421 118,674,196 36,376,504 23,454,716 
Total at the end of the year 299,454,543 185,991,809 62,258,769 41,794,664 

b. Unearned premiums  
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 2021 2020 2021 2020 
 Gross Gross Net Net 
 € € € € 
     
At 1 January  123,022,017 59,030,670 30,531,936 11,845,041 
Premiums written 436,208,160 364,739,602 60,761,986 50,296,960 
Premiums earned  (404,811,424) (300,748,255) (50,754,876) (31,610,065) 
At 31 December 154,418,753 123,022,017 40,539,046 30,531,936 

 
At 31 December 2021, the Company has not recognised any unexpired risk reserve. A liability adequacy test was 
performed and management expects that the present value of expected future cash outflows relating to the balance of 
unearned premium to be lower than the closing balance of unearned premium.  
 
13.2 Claims development  
 
The Company’s loss triangles disclose claims development pattern over the financial reporting years.  
 
The claims incurred, including claims outstanding and incurred but not reported claims, development table by 
underwriting year and development year.  
 

Underwriting Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
At 31 December 2021 € € € € € € 
       
Claims development       
At the end of the U/W 
Year 

- - -  
20,951,784 

 
126,142,447 

 
135,735,122 

One year later - - - 80,190,610 217,195,421 - 
Two years later - - 23,872,358 72,096,236 - - 
Three years later - 14,515,549 22,771,475 - - - 
Four years later 1,095,155 19,804,549 - - - - 
Five years later 1,239,298 - - - - - 
Estimate of cumulative 
claims 

 
1,239,298 

 
19,804,549 

 
22,771,475 

 
72,096,238 

 
217,195,421 

 
135,732,122 

       
Other movements       
Unallocated loss 
adjustment expenses 

 
3,067 

 
30,773 

 
134,173 

 
127,305 

 
124,066 

 
74,558 

Claims paid (132,867) (7,908,427) (5,664,616) (36,743,986) (82,871,391) (36,557,215) 
Total at the end of the 
year 

 
1,109,498 

 
11,926,895 

 
17,241,032 

 
35,479,557 

 
134,448,096 

 
99,249,465 

       
Total cumulative claims      468,839,103 
Total unallocated loss 
adjustment expenses 

     493,942 

Total claims paid at 
year end 

      
(169,878,502) 

Combined total at year 
end 

      
229,454,543 

 
Underwriting Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
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At 31 December 2020 € € € € € 
      
Claims development      
At the end of the U/W Year - - - 20,951,784 126,142,447 
One year later - - - 80,190,610 - 
Two years later - - 23,872,358 - - 
Three years later - 14,515,549 - - - 
Four years later 1,095,155 - - - - 
Estimate of cumulative claims 1,095,155 14,515,549 23,872,358 80,190,610 126,142,447 
      
Other movements      
Unallocated loss adjustment expenses  

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

1,359 
 

126,952 
Claims paid 22,559 (30,484) (484,877) (22,411,805) (37,048,014) 
Total at the end of the year 1,117,714 14,485,065 23,387,481 57,780,164 89,221,385 
      
Total cumulative claims     245,816,119 
Total unallocated loss adjustment 
expenses 

    128,311 

Total claims paid at year end     (59,952,621) 
Combined total at year end     185,991,809 

 
The Company started underwriting operations during 2019, however, during the prior year the Company acquired a 
business portfolio of EEA risks from a related entity through a Part VII portfolio transfer. Further information is specified 
in note 24 to these financial statements. The acquired portfolio included claims incurred on policies which have an 
underwriting year which is earlier than 2019, being the Company’s first year of underwriting operations.  
 
 

14. Deferred acquisition costs  
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
At 1 January  3,623,799 331,504 
Additions: DAC related to inward insurance business 139,617,445 113,518,218 
Deductions: DAC related to outward reinsurance business (159,768,339) (130,870,572) 
Net earned DAC 20,064,858 20,644,649 
At 31 December 3,537,763 3,623,799 

 
Deferred acquisition costs are current in nature.  
 
 

15. Insurance and reinsurance receivables 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations 130,170,164 107,553,818 
Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 17,525,260 9,336,893 
At 31 December 147,695,424 116,890,711 
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Debtors arising out of insurance and reinsurance operations are current in nature.  
 
The Company has estimated the expected credit losses over its insurance receivables in line with the requirements of 
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, included in note 8.  
 
 

16. Other receivables 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Accrued interest 1,260,935 730,454 
Other receivables 110,154 79,315 
Other prepayments 489,946 236,422 
At 31 December 1,861,035 1,046,191 

 
Other receivables are current in nature.  
 
The Company has estimated the expected credit losses over its other receivables in line with the requirements of IFRS 
9 ‘Financial Instruments’, included in Note 8.  
 
 

17. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 
 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Cash at Bank  14,888,788 31,449,803 

 
The Company holds cash balances at foreign banks and such balances are current in nature and highly liquid. 
Management monitors the banks’ credit rating on an annual basis and ensures that such rating does not deteriorate 
below an acceptable level. Cash deposits are currently held at banks which have a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of 
not lower than A.  
 
Cash at bank held with a related party amounted to €nil (2020: €nil). 
 
 

18. Lease liabilities  
 
Lease liabilities relate to motor vehicles which are leased for an average period of around 3 to 5 years. Information 
about these leases is presented in note 12 and below.  
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The total expected lease payments over the terms of the leases are presented below.  
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Within 1 year 167,041 125,000 
Within 2 to 5 years 280,102 218,125 
Beyond 5 years - - 
Total expected lease payments  447,143 343,125 

 
The lease liability in relation to the leased assets is analysed below.  
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Asset NBV at 1 January  310,348 191,192 
Additions 228,052 234,576 
Interest on lease liability 24,079 14,850 
Lease payment (157,267) (130,270) 
Lease liability at 31 December  405,212 310,348 

 
Additionally, the Company has entered into various short term lease arrangements for office space across various 
locations within the EEA. The cost of such annual office leases across the EEA amount to around €0.5 million per 
annum (2020: €0.3 million). The Company chose to avail itself of the exemption in the standard to continue to 
recognize such office lease expenses directly in profit or loss as and when these are incurred.  
 
 

19. Insurance and reinsurance payables 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations 138,304,813 107,111,137 
Insurance premium tax payable 3,189,367 1,796,772 
Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations - - 
At 31 December 141,494,180 108,907,909 

 
Amounts of reinsurance payables which are due to related parties (refer to Note 26) amount to €18.5 million (2020: 
€16.5 million). Creditors arising out of insurance and reinsurance operations are current in nature. The exposures to 
currency and liquidity risk on the Company’s insurance and reinsurance payables are analysed in Note 5.  
 
 

20. Other payables 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Accruals  4,474,694 4,134,962 
Other payables 1,614,451 4,015,054 
At 31 December 6,089,145 8,150,016 
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Amounts of other payables which are due to related parties (refer to Note 26) amount to €0.7 million (2020: €3.9 
million). Other payables are current in nature. The exposures to currency and liquidity risk on the Company’s other 
payables are analysed in Note 5. 
 
 

21. Share capital 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
Authorised:    
10,000,000 ordinary shares of €10 each 100,000,000 100,000,000 
   
Issued and fully paid:   
2,060,000 ordinary shares of €10 each 20,600,000 20,600,000 

 
The ordinary shares carry voting rights at general meetings of the Company, are entitled to any distribution of dividends, 
and rank simultaneously for any residual assets of the Company after the settlement of all liabilities in the event of the 
Company’s winding up. 
 
 

22. Capital Contribution 
 
Capital Contribution are irrevocable and they are classified as an un-distributable reserve in the Company’s Statement of 
Financial Position. 
 

 2021 2020 
 € € 
   
At 1 January 56,333,527 22,225,000 
Advance of capital contribution 35,527,479 34,108,527 
At 31 December 91,861,006 56,333,527 

 
 

23. Dividends 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2021 and the comparative period, no dividends were distributed or transferred to 
the Capital Contribution Reserve. No final dividends are proposed by the directors from the profit for the year ended 31 
December 2020.  
 
 

24. Part VII Portfolio Transfer  
 
Following the sanction of the Part VII by the High Court on Thursday 12th November 2020, the scheme took effect on 
30th November 2020 and the Company acquired Starr International (Europe) Limited’s impacted EEA policies and related 
liabilities. The net technical liabilities (comprising net unearned premium, net claims outstanding, net IBNR, net deferred 
acquisition costs) transferred were valued at €23.8 million on 30 November 2020. A corresponding premium of €23.8 
million was transferred from Starr International (Europe) Limited to the Company alongside the transferring liabilities. 
This premium was comprised of cash of €23.7 million and net receivables of €0.1 million.  
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In order to ensure that the comparability of financial information and KPIs, management have elected to recognise the 
Part VII premium through the net claims incurred lines on the income statement. The effect of the transaction had nil 
net impact on the financial result for the Company at the date of transfer.  
 
The acquired assets and liabilities on the date of acquisition, being 30 November 2020, are set out below.  
 

  On 30 November 
2020 

  € 
   
Assets    
Reinsurers’ share of provisions for unearned premiums  6,793,913 
Reinsurers’ share of outstanding claims and IBNR  53,905,520 
Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations  4,296,964 
Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations   3,642,877 
Cash at bank  23,671,096 
Net deferred acquisition costs   1,923,414 
  94,233,784 
Liabilities   
Provisions for unearned premiums  9,206,040 
Outstanding claims and IBNR  76,088,385 
Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations  7,861,573 
RI Share of Deferred Acquisition Costs  1,077,786 
  94,233,784 
   
Net transferred assets/(liabilities)   - 

 
 

25. Contingent assets and liabilities  
 
The Company had no material events which require the recognition of any contingent assets or liabilities.  
 
 

26. Related party transactions 
 
The Company has related party relationships with affiliated companies that fall under the same common ultimate parent 
and have common management. Further details of transactions and balances with related parties are set out in notes, 
7, 8, 11, 13, 19, 20, 22 and 24.  
 
The Company has signed a capital maintenance agreement with Starr Insurance & Reinsurance Limited, an affiliated 
company, including an unlimited guarantee of its liabilities. 
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The Company has transacted with various related parties throughout the year and such are presented below: 
 

  2021 2020 
Intra group transactions Country € € 
    
Other related parties    
Starr Insurance & Reinsurance Limited Bermuda   
 - Gross ceded premiums  (28,338,827) (23,509,057) 
 - Commissions inward  6,008,963 6,176,440 
 - Claims recoveries  19,803,355 1,910,251 
- Capital maintenance charge   - - 
    
Starr Indemnity & Liability Company United States   
 - Gross ceded premiums  (6,746,949) (7,724,154) 
 - Commissions inward  889,033 1,286,625 
 - Claims recoveries  2,463,001 700 
    
Starr International Insurance (Asia) Limited Hong Kong   
 - Gross ceded premiums  - (8,818) 
 - Commissions inward  - - 
 - Claims recoveries  - - 
    
Starr Property & Casualty Insurance (China) 
Company Limited 

 
China 

  

 - Gross ceded premiums  - (15,884) 
 - Commissions inward  - 1,588 
 - Claims recoveries  - - 
    
Starr International (Europe) Limited United Kingdom   
 - Part VII Portfolio Transfer  - 23,671,096 
 - Net premiums received on behalf of the 
Company 

  
655,762 

 

 - Claims paid on behalf of the Company   (19,180,493) (2,240,706) 
    
Starr Underwriting Agents Limited United Kingdom   
 - Expenses paid on behalf of the Company  (497,749) (753,507) 
 - Commissions charged to the Company  - (640,625) 
 - Delegated authority and support services charge  (8,585,627) (5,626,957) 
    
Starr Insurance Holdings Inc. United States   
 - Group service charges   (708,937) (549,590) 
    
Starr Europe Underwriting Agency Limited Malta   
 - SEUAL commissions on premiums intermediated  (817,208) - 
    
Parent    
Starr Holdings Malta, Limited Malta   
 - Expenses paid on behalf of the company  - - 
 - Capital contribution advanced to the Company  35,527,479 34,108,527 
    
Transactions throughout the year  471,803 26,085,929 
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The part VII portfolio transfer between the Company and Starr International (Europe) Limited is further analysed in note 
24 to these financial statements.  
 
The related party balances (negative balances represent amounts payable to the related parties) as at the end of the 
year amounted to: 
 

  2021 2020 
 Country € € 
    
Intra group balances     
Other related parties    
Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Limited Bermuda (14,668,656) (14,335,160) 
Starr Indemnity and Liability Company United States (3,812,566) (2,187,527) 
Starr International Insurance (Asia) Limited Hong Kong - - 
Starr Property & Casualty Insurance (China) 
Company Limited 

 
China 

 
(14,296) 

 
(14,296) 

Starr International (Europe) Limited United Kingdom (899,405) (2,240,706) 
Starr Underwriting Agents Limited United Kingdom (687,681) (1,605,924) 
Starr Insurance Holdings Inc.  United States (23,549) (34,835) 
Starr Europe Underwriting Agency Limited Malta (817,208) - 
    
Parent    
Starr Holdings Malta, Limited Malta (1,250) (1,250) 
At 31 December  (20,924,611) (20,419,698) 

 
 

27. Statutory information 
 
The Company is a limited liability company registered as an insurer under the Insurance Business Act (Chapter 403 of the 
Laws of Malta) to carry on business of general business insurance underwriting risks in Malta and within the European 
Economic Area (“EEA”) through passporting rights in all EEA jurisdictions. The Company was incorporated in Malta on 
15 March 2018 and commenced writing insurance business during 2019.  
 
The Company has also set up branches is a number of EEA jurisdictions following regulatory approval. The Company's 
registration number is C 85380. The Company’s registered address is at Dragonara Business Centre, 5th Floor, Dragonara 
Road, St. Julians, STJ 3141, Malta.  
 
The parent company is Starr Holdings (Malta), Limited (registration number C85374, registered in 171, Old Bakery 
Street, Valletta, VLT 1455, Malta). The ultimate parent and ultimate controlling party of the group is Starr International 
Company Inc., irrevocable foundation registered in Switzerland, which itself owns all the assets and is controlled by the 
foundation board. The registered address of the ultimate parent company is at 101 Baarerstrasse, Zug, CH-6300, 
Switzerland.  
 
The financial statements of Starr Europe Insurance Limited are included in the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by its parent Company, Starr Holdings (Malta), Limited in Malta, which are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU. Consolidated financial statements may be 
obtained from the parent company’s registered address. 
 
The financial statements of Starr Europe Insurance Limited are also included in the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by its ultimate parent Company,  Starr International Company Inc. in Switzerland, which are prepared in 
accordance with US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Consolidated financial statements may be 
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obtained from the ultimate parent company’s registered address. 
 
 

28. Significant events during the period 
 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic and the measures adopted by governments in countries worldwide 
to mitigate the pandemic’s spread have not significantly impacted the Company. These measures required the Company 
close down its offices for specific forced lock down periods and allow staff to work from home for these periods. 
Management have assessed such impacts and have concluded that such have not materially impacted the Company’s 
operations and staff continued to operate effectively on a remote basis. Throughout the recent months governments 
have been relaxing restrictive measures and the expectation is that we expect a gradual return to normality as people 
return back to office.  
 
The volatility in financial markets brought about by the outbreak of COVID-19 and post pandemic inflationary pressures 
have impacted the valuation of the investment portfolios of the Company. Having considered the positions within the 
financial markets up to the date of approval of these financial statements, we expect that our solvency ratio remains in 
excess of our risk tolerance threshold. As at that date, the Company reports a healthy level of net assets and 
management is of the opinion that the Company is able to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable 
future.  
 
The impact of economic uncertainty during 2021 on individuals and businesses could have also lead to policyholder 
claims across a number of classes. Having considered the period up until the date of these financial statements, the 
Company’s assessment of claims incurred continues to be positive and there has not been a material increase in claims 
as a result of the pandemic.  
 
The Board of Directors have reviewed the operations of the branch in Norway and do not believe that the current level 
of insurance business underwritten through this operation is sufficient to provide a return to the organization. The Board 
have decided and resolved on 23 March 2021 that the Company shall cease to operate from the Norwegian permanent 
establishment and that liabilities for risks previously underwritten by the Branch will be honoured and run off by the 
Company.  
 
 

29. Events occurring after the reporting date  
 
Since 24 February 2022, there has been an escalation of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine resulting in a 
programme of economic sanctions being implemented by the EU, UK and US governments against Russia. SEIL has 
considered its exposures to the conflict and resulting sanctions from an insurance, investment and operational 
perspective.  

 

SEIL has underwritten both Russian and Ukrainian domiciled business and risks exposed to Russia and Ukraine. SEIL is 
co-ordinating activity across compliance and the underwriting and claims functions to identify policies that could be 
impacted by the sanctions and/or the impact of the conflict. To the date of approval of these Financial Statements, 
management does not believe that such are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
performance and position.  

 

Procedures have been put into place to ensure there are no breaches of sanctions and underwriting exposure 
minimised. The actions have been overseen by the SEIL Board and senior management, and the changing landscape 
continues to be monitored, with the impact assessed and acted on accordingly.  
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At the time of writing, there is not expected to be significant direct impacts to the financial condition of the Company. 

 
Other than the matters discussed above, there have been no significant events after the reporting date that would 
otherwise require adjustment to or warrant further disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Shareholders of Starr Europe Insurance Limited  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Starr Europe Insurance Limited (the “Company”), set out on pages 12 to 
56, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of profit and loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company 
as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act, 1995 (Cap. 386, Laws of Malta) (the “Act”) and the Insurance Business Act, 
1998 (Cap. 403, Laws of Malta) (the “Insurance Business Act”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for 
Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) in Malta, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
 
To the Shareholders of Starr Europe Insurance Limited  
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 

 
Area 
 

 
Reason 

 
Audit Response 

Valuation and 
accuracy of claims 
outstanding and 
incurred but not 
reported (IBNR) 
and incurred but 
not enough 
reported (IBNER) 
provisions (gross 
and net basis) 
 
Refer to Notes 2.3 
and 13 to the 
Company’s financial 
statements for 
disclosures of 
related accounting 
policies and 
balances 

The Company’s net claims 
outstanding and IBNR/IBNER 
provisions as at 31 December 2021 
are €25.9m and €36.4m, 
respectively. 
 
This is the most significant risk area 
for general insurers and therefore an 
area for regulatory focus. It is the 
most significant area of judgement 
for both management and audit 
team. 
 
The methodologies and 
assumptions utilised to develop 
insurance contract provisions 
involve a significant degree of 
judgement. The liabilities are based 
on the estimated ultimate cost of all 
claims incurred but not settled at a 
given date, whether reported or not. 
In addition, classes of business 
where there is a greater length of 
time between initial claim event and 
settlement also tend to display 
greater variability between initial 
estimates and final settlements. A 
range of methods may be used to 
determine these provisions. 
 
We focused on this area as the 
underlying methods include number 
of explicit and implicit assumptions 
relating to the expected settlement 
amounts and settlement patterns of 
claims and are subject to complex 
calculations which include 
application of management’s 
judgement. 
 

Our audit procedures comprised, including through 
the involvement of our own actuarial experts: 
 
 Evaluated the governance around the reserving 

process, including the scrutiny applied by the 
Company’s committees, as well as actuarial 
reviews; 

 Applied our industry knowledge and experience 
to understand and evaluate the claims 
outstanding and IBNR/IBNER reserving 
methodology, models and assumptions used; 

 Assessed the work of both the internal and 
external actuaries engaged by the Company, 
specifically to challenge the calculations of the 
amounts reserved for claims outstanding and 
IBNR provisions based on the methodology, 
assumptions and judgements made; 

 Considered the quality of underlying data 
through testing of a sample of claims to 
underlying documentation;  

 Tested the cut off periods for sampled claims 
paid and outstanding claims against supporting 
evidence provided; and 

 Reviewed the calculations used in identifying 
reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding and 
IBNR/IBNER provisions.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
 
To the Shareholders of Starr Europe Insurance Limited  
 
Key Audit Matters (continued) 
 

 
Area 
 

 
Reason 

 
Audit Response 

Revenue 
recognition 
(insurance) 
 
Refer to Notes 2.2 
and 6 to the 
Company’s financial 
statements for 
disclosures of 
related accounting 
policies and 
balances  
 

Total gross written premium 
generated during the year from 
underwriting amounted to €436.2m. 
 
In accordance with IFRS, the income 
arising from these insurance 
programs should only be recognised 
as income within the income 
statement when the performance 
conditions associated with it have 
been met. The determination of the 
performance conditions associated 
with such income gives rise to 
significant judgements to be 
exercised by management. There is 
a risk that such judgements are not 
made in accordance with IFRS and 
thus the accounting for such income 
is materially misstated in the 
financial statements. 
 
Also, due to the nature of the 
Company’s business, the gross 
written premium amount is realised 
within one month from the end of that 
period. Pipeline premiums are 
subject to significant estimation 
uncertainty, and such estimates 
have a direct impact on various 
financial statements captions, 
predominantly: ‘outward reinsurance 
premiums’; unearned premiums 
included within the ‘technical 
provisions’ and ‘reinsurers’ share of 
technical provisions’; deferred 
acquisition costs and commissions 
reported as part of ‘net other 
technical income’. 
 

We have: 
 
 Obtained an understanding and reviewed the 

number accounting policies adopted by the 
Company with respect to the recognition of 
revenue; 

 Tested, on a sample basis, whether amounts 
recognised were accurate and recorded in the 
correct accounting period based on policy 
documentation and bordereaux; 

 On a sample basis, recalculated the unearned 
portion of revenue; 

 Evaluated the appropriateness of the accounting 
for pipeline premiums, by assessing the difference 
between the estimated amount recognised and the 
actual gross written premium reported in the month 
subsequent to the reporting period; 

 Assessed the impact of any material differences on 
‘gross written premium’ and the related financial 
statement captions identified in the description of 
the key audit matter; and 

 Obtained a confirmation letter from the respective 
Managing General Agent of the Warranty and 
Health business. 

 
Based on the procedures we performed, we 
observed that the recognition of gross written 
premium was reasonable and appropriate based on 
the requirements of IFRS and the nature of the 
underlying agreements. 
 

 
 
Other Matter 
 
The financial statements of Starr Europe Insurance Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020, were audited by 
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 23 April 2021. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
 
To the Shareholders of Starr Europe Insurance Limited  
 
Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover this information, including the Directors' Report.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the Directors’ Report includes the disclosures 
required by Article 177 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386). Based on the work we have performed, in our opinion: 
 
 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 

is consistent with the financial statements; and 
 the Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.386). 
 
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the Directors’ Report. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with Governance  
 
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that (i) give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, (ii) are properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
and the Insurance Business Act, and (iii) for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
 
To the Shareholders of Starr Europe Insurance Limited 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors. 
 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications that 
COVID-19 will have on the company business and the overall economy. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

Matters on which we are required to report by the Act, specific to public interest entities  
 
Pursuant to article 179B(1) of the Act, we report under matters not already reported upon in our ‘Report on the Audit of 
the Financial Statements’: 
 

 we were first appointed to act as statutory auditor by the board of directors on 16 September 2021 for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2021. The Company became licensed as an insurance undertaking in 
terms of the Malta Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403) on 16 October 2018.  
 

 our opinion on our audit of the financial statements is consistent with the additional report to the those charged 
with governance required to be issued by the Audit Regulation (as referred to in the Act); and  

 
 we have not provided any of the prohibited services as set out in the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281). 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
 
To the Shareholders of Starr Europe Insurance Limited 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)  
 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act 
 
Pursuant to articles 179(10) and 179(11) of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) Act, we have nothing to report to 
you with respect to the following matters:  
 

 proper accounting records have not been kept; or  
 
 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or  

 
 we have not obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, we 

require for the purpose of our audit. 
 
 
 
The principal in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Donna Greaves for and on behalf 
of 
 

 

 

______________________________________ 

PKF Assurance (Malta) Limited  
Registered Auditors 

15, Level 3 
Mannarino Road 
Birkirkara BKR 9080 
Malta 

7 April 2022 




